6-27-84

SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED

SIDNEY

JUN 4 1984

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By _____ Deputy Clerk

CASE NO. 68,823

NISSAN MOTOR CO., LTD.,
et al.,

Petitioners/Appellees,

v.

LYNN PHLIEGER,

Respondent/Appellant.

PETITIONERS' JURISDICTIONAL BRIEF

SHARON LEE STEDMAN
Attorney at Law
RUMBERGER, KIRK, CALDWELL,
CABANISS & BURKE
A Professional Association
11 East Pine Street
Post Office Box 1873
Orlando, Florida 32802
(305) 425-1802
Attorneys for Petitioners/
Appellees, Nissan Motor
Co., Ltd., Nissan Motor
Co. in USA, and Bob Restina
Import Center, Inc.

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The petitioners were the defendants in the trial court and the appellees in the Fifth District Court of Appeal and respondent was the plaintiff in the trial court and the appellant in the Fifth District Court of Appeal.

In this brief, the parties will be referred to as the "petitioners/appellees/defendants" and "respondent/appellant/plaintiff."

The following symbol will be used:

"A" Appendix

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The facts as found by the Fifth District Court of Appeal are as follows:

In August, 1981, Jay Phlieger was killed as a result of an allegedly defective roof design in his Nissan truck. In June, 1983, less than two years later, his widow filed a wrongful death action against Nissan. In its motion for summary judgment, Nissan pointed out that the truck had been originally purchased on February 13, 1970, and that under the product liability statute of repose, which has a 12-year absolute limit of liability, its exposure to liability ended on February 13, 1982. Nissan argued that because on June 3, 1983, when Mrs. Phlieger filed her wrongful death action, a products liability action by her husband would have been barred, the wrongful death action was likewise barred. The trial court agreed and entered summary judgment in favor of Nissan.

The Fifth District Court of Appeal reversed the trial court and held that the action, although admittedly based on negligence, strict liability, and breach of warranty, was a wrongful death action pursuant to section 768.19, Florida Statutes, and that, therefore, section 95.031(2) did not apply, but, rather, the two-year statute of limitations for wrongful death actions as found in section 95.11(4)(d) applied.

Nissan timely filed its Notice to Invoke the Discretionary Jurisdiction of this Honorable Court.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

As is made clear by the complaint filed in the instant case (App. A), the respondent filed a products liability cause of action based on a survivors right of action given them by virtue of section 768.19, Florida Statutes. Although the respondent may have had a "right of action" by virtue of section 768.19, Florida's Wrongful Death Act, they had no "cause of action" by virtue of section 95.031(2) since a products liability cause of action is defined in terms of twelve (12) years. Section 95.031(2) declares that a products liability cause of action must be brought within twelve (12) years after delivery of the completed product to its original purchaser. At the end of twelve (12) years, a manufacturer is effectively cleared of any alleged wrongdoing. Colony Hill Condo. I Assn. v. Colony Co., 320 N.E.2d 273 (N.C. App. 1984).

The Fifth District Court of Appeal's opinion has confused a "right of action" with a "cause of action." In order for the respondent to maintain a cause of action, they must prove the elements of a products liability cause of action, i.e., negligence, breach of warranty, and strict liability. These causes of action were non-existent in June of 1983. There are no independent and distinct elements to be proved under the Wrongful Death Act as the Wrongful Death Act simply gives

survivors a right of action which they did not have at common law.

Parker v. City of Jacksonville, 82 So.2d 131 (Fla. 1955), relied on by the Fifth District, deals with statutes of limitations and is simply not applicable to the instant opinion. Section 95.031(2) is not a statute of limitations but a hybrid of a statute of limitations, i.e., it is a statute of limitations up until twelve (12) years from date of delivery to the original purchaser, but a statute of repose at the end of twelve (12) years. As a statute of repose, rather than being directed at the remedy, it extinguishes the right of action itself because it sets a fixed limit after the time the product is manufactured beyond which the manufacturer would not be liable thereby acquiring its substantive quality. The function of the statute is thus to define substantive rights than to alter or modify a remedy.

The instant opinion is in conflict with decisions of this Honorable Court as the opinion has given survivors greater rights than a decedent would have had he survived. The opinion has further given survivors a separate and independent cause of action since the decedent's cause of action had expired on February 13, 1982.

ARGUMENT

POINT ON APPEAL

THIS HONORABLE COURT HAS JURISDICTION TO REVIEW THE DECISION OF THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL SINCE THE DECISION EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICTS WITH OPINIONS OF THE FLORIDA SUPREME COURT.

The primary purpose of Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv) is to avoid confusion and to maintain uniformity in the case law of a state and to avoid any uncertainty that might derive from situations where conflicting decisions develop in the district courts of appeal. Lake v. Lake, 103 So.2d 639 (Fla. 1958), overruled on other grounds, Foley v. Weaver Drugs, Inc., 177 So.2d 221 (Fla. 1965). A review of the opinion rendered by the Fifth District Court of Appeal in this case shows on its face there does exist a direct conflict between its decision and decisions of this court. The petitioners submit that the district court's opinion is in direct conflict with Pullum v. Cincinnati, Inc., 476 So.2d 657 (Fla. 1985), Ash v. Stella, 457 So.2d 1377 (Fla. 1984), and Variety Children's Hospital v. Perkins, 445 So.2d 1010 (Fla. 1983).

Section 95.031(2), Florida Statutes, declares that actions for products liability under section 95.11(3) must be begun within twelve years after the date of delivery of the completed product to its original purchaser. Section 95.11(3) is the statutory authority for a products liability cause of

action. In defining a products liability cause of action, therefore, the Florida legislature has chosen to define the cause of action in terms of twelve years, i.e., if the cause of action is not brought within twelve years, there simply is no products liability cause of action. In Pullum v. Cincinnati, Inc., *supra*, 476 So.2d at 659, this court held that the legislature, in enacting the statute of repose, reasonably decided that perpetual liability places an undue burden on manufacturers, and it decided that twelve years from the date of sale is a reasonable time for exposure to liability for manufacturers of a product. The instant opinion, therefore, is in direct conflict with Pullum as the Fifth District Court of Appeal has extended a manufacturer's exposure to liability for an additional two years if the action is one for wrongful death.

The petitioners submit that the instant opinion is also in conflict with Pullum in that this Honorable Court held that the statute of repose was not a denial of equal protection. The instant opinion holds that injured parties fall within the twelve-year statute of repose, but their survivors do not, which the petitioners submit renders the statute of repose a denial of equal protection, which this Honorable Court specifically ruled in Pullum that it is not.

The instant opinion has also given survivors greater

rights than injured parties in redefining a products liability cause of action if the injured party dies. Such also renders the opinion to be in direct conflict with Variety Children's Hospital v. Perkins, supra, 445 So.2d at 1012, wherein this Honorable Court held that it is clear that the paramount purpose of the Florida Wrongful Death Act is to prevent a tortfeasor from evading liability for his misconduct when such misconduct results in death:

The law of a person's right to sue for personal injuries terminated with his death. This created the anomaly that a tortfeasor who would normally be liable for damages caused by tortious conduct would not be liable in situations where the damages were so severe as to result in death. This paradox was remedied by creating an independent cause of action for the decedent's survivors.

The Fifth District Court of Appeal's opinion is in direct conflict with Perkins, as in the instant opinion, the converse is true. The petitioners would not be liable to Jay Phlieger had he lived and he had filed the instant lawsuit on the date that his survivors did since no cause of action existed as twelve years had lapsed. But, however, since Jay Phlieger died, the petitioners are allegedly liable for an extra two years.

The instant opinion has rendered the Wrongful Death Act substantive in nature by redefining a products liability cause of action. The Wrongful Death Act, however, is remedial and should be construed to fulfill its remedial function. It

was designed to fill a void in the common law, not to aggregate with all the other causes of action already existing under the common law. Perkins, supra, 445 So.2d at 1013 (Ehrlich, J. concurring).