IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Case No. 68,823

NISSAN MOTOR CO., LTD., et al.,

:

Petitioners,

vs.

.

LYNN PHLIEGER,

•

Respondent.

.

PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF A DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL FIFTH DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

JURISDICTIONAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT, LYNN PHLIEGER

Gary D. Fox Stewart, Tilghman, Fox & Bianchi Counsel for Respondent 44 West Flagler Street Miami, Florida 33131-1808 (305) 358-6644

Thomas E. Thoburn Counsel for Respondent 319 River Edge Boulevard Cocoa, Florida 32922 (305) 632-9471 James C. Blecke Counsel for Respondent Biscayne Building, Suite 705 19 West Flagler Street Miami, Florida 33130 (305) 358-5999

INTRODUCTION

This jurisdictional brief is filed on behalf of the respondent, Lynn Phlieger. For purposes of determining jurisdiction, Nissan's statement of the case and facts is acceptable. The decision is now reported at 487 So.2d 1096-9.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The decision of the Fifth District does not conflict with Pullum v. Cincinnati, Inc., 476 So.2d 657 (Fla. 1985), Ash v. Stella, 457 So.2d 1377 (Fla. 1984), or Variety Children's Hospital v. Perkins, 445 So.2d 1010 (Fla. 1983) for the simple reason that none of them involve the application of the statute of limitation for wrongful death actions in a products liability setting. The Fifth District is the first and only appellate court to expressly decide the issue presented. The decision is therefore not in conflict with Pullum, Ash, Perkins, or any other reported appellate decision in the state of Florida.

JURISDICTIONAL ARGUMENT

I.

There is no jurisdictional conflict with <u>Pullum</u>. In <u>Pullum</u>, this Court reconstitutionalized §95.031(2), Florida Statutes (1975). Here, the Fifth District did not hold the statute unconstitutional. The Fifth District found the statute inapplicable by its express terms. The twelve year cap applies only to personal injury claims. It does not, by its terms, apply to wrongful death actions. The only relevance of the twelve year cap on personal injury claims for products liability is in the determination whether the decedent, at the moment of his death, would have been able to maintain a personal injury action but for his death. The Fifth District was correct when it concluded:

Nissan's argument that Mrs. Phlieger's action was barred would have merit only if her husband had been killed more than twelve years after the delivery of the truck and he himself was barred from filing suit. . . . Here, as was noted above, the twelve year statute of repose had not expired when the cause of action, for wrongful death, accrued. [487 So.2d at 1098-9].

II.

There is no express or direct conflict with Ash v. Stella. This becomes obvious with a reading of the Fifth District's treatment of Ash v. Stella:

In Ash, the Florida supreme court held that wrongful death actions based on medical malpractice would be governed by the medical malpractice statute of limitations. The medical malpractice statute, however, specifically defined an action

for medical malpractice as including a claim in tort for damages because of death. Based on this language, the court concluded that the legislature had clearly intended the section to apply to wrongful death actions in cases where the basis for the action is medical malpractice. In contrast, here section 95.031(2) does not define a products liability action as including claims for damages because of death. [487 So.2d at 1098].

III.

There is no express or direct conflict with <u>Perkins</u>. As recognized by the Fifth District in its opinion, <u>Perkins</u> held a wrongful death action barred where the decedent, during his lifetime, had filed a personal injury action against the tort-feasor and had fully recovered. In so holding, this Court reasoned:

At the moment of his death the injured minor Anthony Perkins had no right of action against the tortfeasor. . . . Since there was no right of action existing at the time of death, under the statute no wrongful death cause of action survived the decedent. [445 So.2d at 1012; emphasis added by the Fifth District, 487 So.2d at 1098].

Here, the twelve year limitation had not yet expired at the moment of death, the time when the cause of action for wrongful death accrued. 487 So.2d at 1098-9.

IV.

It is evident from Nissan's jurisdictional brief that it wishes to reargue the merits of the Fifth District decision, but

is unable to find a legitimate jurisdictional basis for doing so. On the merits, the Fifth District followed the clear precedent set by this Court in Parker v. City of Jacksonville, 82 So.2d 131 (Fla. 1955). In Parker, the decedent's cause of action would have been barred - if he had lived - by a twelve month statute of limitation applicable to personal injury claims against municipalities. This Court held that the wrongful death action was governed by the two year statute of limitation applicable to wrongful death claims and that the statutory beneficiaries could proceed against the municipality, even though their decedent's suit, had he lived and filed suit on the same date, would have been barred.

The statute of limitations on medical negligence claims suffered multiple revisions during the 1970's. The impact of these changes on wrongful death claims for medical negligence is chronicled in Worrell v. John F. Kennedy Memorial Hospital, Inc., 384 So.2d 897 (Fla. 4th DCA 1980). The Fourth District concluded that death due to medical malpractice was not included within the malpractice statute until May 20, 1975, the effective date of Chapter 75-9, Laws of Florida, which for the first time defined an action for medical malpractice as including a claim for death. Although the case was reversed on other grounds in Dober v. Worrell, 401 So.2d 1322 (Fla. 1981), this Court agreed with the district court's construction of the statute of limitation. 401 So.2d at 1323.

Just as the prior medical malpractice statutes of limitation applied only to personal injury and not to death resulting from malpractice, so too does the products liability statute of limitation apply only to personal injury actions and not to claims for wrongful death. The products liability statute is not amenable to judicial amendment to include claims for wrongful death. Parker v. City of Jacksonville.

CONCLUSION

The petition for review should be denied.

Gary D. Fox Stewart, Tilghman, Fox & Bianchi 1900 Courthouse Tower 44 West Flagler Street Miami, Florida 33130 (305) 358-6644

Thomas E. Thoburn 319 River Edge Boulevard Cocoa, Florida 32922 (305) 632-9471

and

James C. Blecke Counsel for Phlieger Biscayne Building, Suite 705 19 West Flagler Street Miami, Florida 33130 (305) 358-5999

James C. Blecke